
Date Published: 25 October 2021     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 2 November 2021 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4) Andrea Clarke

4  Public Questions 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 26 
October 2021. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

5  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 26 October 2021. Please send questions to the 
Chief Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

6  Next steps - Health and Wellbeing Board and Integrated Care 
Partnership (Pages 5 - 12)

Mary Hutton, 
Professor Sarah 
Scott

7  ICS Update 

The Board to receive a presentation.

Mary Hutton

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

8  Health and Wellbeing Board - Performance Dashboard (Pages 13 - 18)

The dashboard will be presented to the Board at the meeting.

Katherine 
Martin, Katie 
Hopgood

9  Child Friendly Gloucestershire Update (Pages 19 - 42) Dame Janet 
Trotter, Andy 
Dempsey

10  Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021 - 2024 (Pages 43 - 56) Helen Flitton

Membership – Nick Evans (Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner), Keith Gerrard (Stroud 
District Council), Dr Bob Hodges (Primary Care), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group), ACC Rhiannon Kirk (Representing the Chief Constable), Darren Knight 
(Cheltenham Borough Council), Deborah Lee (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), 
David Owen (GFirstLEP), Rachel Pearce (NHS England), Angela Potter (Gloucestershire Health 
and Care NHS Foundation Trust), Nikki Richardson (Healthwatch Gloucestershire), Gavin Roberts 
(Assistant Chief Fire Officer), Ruth Saunders (Gloucester City Council), Professor Sarah Scott 
(Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour (Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of Children's Services), Peter Tonge 
(Tewkesbury Borough Council), Rob Weaver (Cotswold District Council) and Peter Williams (Forest 
of Dean District Council) Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Tim Harman and 
Cllr Kathy Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 
20 July 2021 commencing at 10.00 am at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Stephen Davies
Keith Gerrard
Cllr Tim Harman
Darren Knight
David Owen
Angela Potter

Nikki Richardson
Gavin Roberts
Ruth Saunders
Professor Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour
Peter Tonge
Cllr Kathy Williams

Substitutes: Superintendent Emma Davies for ACC Rhiannon Kirk

Apologies: Mary Hutton, Deborah Lee, Dr Teresa Pietroni, Chris Spencer, Rob 
Weaver, Peter Williams, ACC Rhiannon Kirk

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin was elected Chairperson for the year 2021 to 2022.

2. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 
Dr Andy Seymour was elected Vice Chairperson for the year 2021 to 2022.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations were received.

4. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday 16 March 2021 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairperson.

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
Three public questions had been received and were taken as read. There were no 
supplementary questions. 

6. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No member questions had been received.

7. ICS CHANGES UPDATE 
7.1 Dr Seymour gave a detailed presentation (the presentation slides were uploaded to the 

council website and included in the minute book). 

7.2 The Board was informed that the Gloucestershire ICS (Integrated Care System) would be 
one of the smallest in the country. It would enable local flexibility and have a strong 
employment commitment. Clinical and care leadership remained key aspects. Governance 
would be a significant issue as would the relationship between the ICS and HWB Boards.

7.3 Board members agreed that this work benefitted from the strong foundation already in 
place in Gloucestershire. It was noted that the guidance was permissive rather than 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

dictatorial which was helpful. It was important to note that as this was not yet enacted 
things would change.

7.4 It was agreed that it would be helpful to have an offline development session between the 
two Boards to enable members to explore how they would work together, including how the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy fitted in; how to ensure that the voice of the 
person/patient was heard; how to ensure that there was no duplication of effort; how to 
ensure that the process added value; and, how best to include the VCS in the membership. 
ACTION: Andrea Clarke/Sarah Scott

7.5 It was commented that it would be important not to lose sight of the progress made with 
regard to the support of vulnerable children. 

8. HEALTH INEQUALITIES UPDATE 
8.1 The Deputy Director of Public Health gave a detailed presentation of the report. The Board 

supported the direction of travel demonstrated in the report.

8.2 The Board agreed to support the proposal to run a virtual event this autumn to launch the 
Gloucestershire Anchors Partnership Programme. It was suggested that if the Board 
wanted employers to engage with this programme then it must be clear what benefit it is to 
them. It was also suggested to engage with the federation of small businesses, not just 
look to the larger organisations. The Deputy Director indicated that they would be happy to 
discuss suggestions for the scope of this event with Board members offline. 

8.3 It was commented that this work was creating more panels; it would be useful to revisit the 
number of panels in place under both the Board and Safer Gloucestershire. 

9. CHILD FRIENDLY GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
9.1 Dame Janet Trotter brought the Board up to date with this work. Dame Janet and the 

Director Partnerships and Strategy (Children’s Services) had been asked to present on this 
initiative to the House of Lords Public Services Committee.  The Select Committee whilst 
welcoming this work challenged some aspects and Dame Janet and the Director would be 
providing a response to the Select Committee. Dame Janet informed the Board that she 
welcomed this challenge; it had given pause for thought and would add value to the 
process. It was noted that the national direction of travel in this area was about localities.

9.2 The Board gave its full support to this work. It was commented that it would be important 
that it complemented rather than duplicated work already in place such as the Cheltenham 
Borough Council (CBC) No Child Left Behind programme. Dame Janet assured the Board 
that she was in contact with CBC officers on this matter. 

9.3 Board members welcomed the inclusion of mental health and wellbeing and that 
safeguarding issues were reflected in this work. It would be important to ensure that 
schools were involved in this work, particularly around developing skills, as this reflected 
concerns raised by business. 

9.4 The Board agreed to support the Child Friendly Gloucestershire Coalition’s direction of 
travel; and the response to the House of Lords. It was also agreed that any comments on 
the brochure to be directed to Andrea Clarke.

10. ACES UPDATE 
10.1 The Board was updated on the activity of the ACEs Panel and the (virtual) ACEs 

Conference. The Conference had been attended by 467 delegates and was very well 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

received. At the heart of this work was collaboration across partners. A significant risk 
going forward was the lack of funding. 

10.2 It was agreed that this work had the power to change lives and that funding must be found 
to enable it to continue. The driver for this work had been a viral change approach which 
had enabled it to grow significantly. Board members agreed that this work must be 
integrated into and reflected in other work streams. 

10.3 It was noted that ACEs transcended children and adults. Going forward it would be 
important to try and capture the impact of this work; how this could be achieved should be 
considered. 

11. UPDATE ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
STRATEGY 

11.1 The Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health presented the report.

11.2 The Board acknowledged the progress made against each of the priorities and the next 
steps outlined. Board members also agreed that a dashboard be developed to monitor 
performance against a range of indicators for each of the priorities. It was agreed that this 
data should be easily accessible, and that it should be received by the Board twice a year.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.54 am

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Health and Wellbeing Board and Integrated Care Partnership: 
Next steps

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information and decision

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Public Health and Adult 
Social Care

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health 
Organisation Gloucestershire County Council 
Key Issues:  
The Health and Care Bill was introduced on Tuesday 6 July 2021 and promotes 
integration between health and care. It is the first major piece of primary legislation on 
health and care in England since the Health and Social Care Act 2012. This sets out 
the formation of a statutory Integrated Care System (ICS) and introduction of 
Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs). 

ICPs will be jointly convened by Local Authorities and the NHS as equal partners and 
will comprise a broad alliance of organisations and representatives concerned with 
improving the care, health and wellbeing of the population they serve. ICPs will be 
built on existing partnerships and collaboration and will be focused on addressing the 
wider determinants of health.

A joint Workshop between the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) Board was held on 21st September 2021. The purpose of this paper is 
to provide an update from the workshop, outline the preferred model for how the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and ICP will operate in Gloucestershire and identify next 
steps. 

Recommendations to Board: 
The Board is invited to:

1. Acknowledge the timeline for decision making.

2. Confirm that option 3 (aligning both boards) is the preferred option.

3. Agree that a joint secretariat should be formed to serve both boards and 
suggest potential membership for this.  

4. Agree that the secretariat will initially consider and make recommendations on 
the details of the functions and form of both boards. 

5. Acknowledge that there should be further clarification about how the voice of 
patients/carers/citizens will be represented at the ICP. 

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



2

Health and Wellbeing Board and Integrated Care 
Partnership: Next steps

1. Purpose
A joint Workshop between the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Integrated Care System 
(ICS) Board was held on 21st September 2021. The purpose of this paper is to provide an 
update from the workshop, outline the preferred model for how the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) will operate in Gloucestershire and identify 
next steps. 

2. Background
2.1 Integrated Care Board and Integrated Care Partnership
The Health and Care Bill was introduced on 6th July 2021 and promotes integration between 
health and care. It is the first major piece of primary legislation on health and care in England 
since the Health and Social Care Act 2012. This sets out the formation of a statutory 
Integrated Care System (ICS) which will include two equally important and complementary 
components: 
• A statutory ICS NHS Body Integrated Care Board (ICB) which will lead and oversee the 
planning and delivery of NHS services across the whole system, develop a capital plan for 
NHS providers, hold the budget for the system, and meet the system control target, 
maintaining appropriate governance and accountability 
• A statutory Health and Care Partnership or Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), 
bringing partners together to address the wider health, social care and public health needs of 
the population and the wider determinants of population health and wellbeing.

As a statutory body, the ICB will have a constitution which will be subject to engagement 
with partner members. The proposed membership of the ICB includes the Chair of the ICP. 
The rationale underpinning this proposal is that it will help embed an aligned approach 
whereby the ICB and the ICP collaborate to deliver the overarching vision and ambition for 
health and care in Gloucestershire and together fulfil the four core purposes of the Integrated 
Care System.

2.2 Status of the Integrated Care Partnership 
Integrated Care Partnerships will be a critical component of an Integrated Care System. 
They will be jointly convened by Local Authorities and the NHS as equal partners and will 
comprise a broad alliance of organisations and representatives concerned with improving 
the care, health and wellbeing of the population they serve. ICPs will be built on existing 
partnerships and collaboration and will be focused on addressing the wider determinants of 
health. They will be fundamental to the way in which an Integrated Care System pursues 
integration through partnership working, in a way that enables people to live healthier and 
more independent lives for longer. The ICP will have the status of a statutory committee and 
will have a central role in the planning and improvement of health and care, with a strong 
emphasis on taking a holistic and place-based view. 

There is a suite of national guidance that will inform the way in which we design and develop 
the Integrated Care Partnership in Gloucestershire. The three key pieces of national 
guidance are: 

Page 6



3

• Integrated Care Systems: Design Framework. NHS England and NHS Improvement 
(16 June 2021)
• Building strong integrated care systems everywhere. ICS implementation guidance 
on partnerships with the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector. NHS 
England and NHS Improvement (2 September 2021), 
• Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) engagement document: Integrated Care System 
(ICS) implementation. Department for Health and Social Care, NHS England and 
NHS Improvement and the Local Government Association (15 September 2021) 

2.3 Obligations of the Integrated Care Board to consult with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board
Included within the draft Health and Care Bill is a requirement that before the start of each 
financial year, the Integrated Care Board must prepare a plan setting out how it will exercise 
its functions over the next 5 years. The plan must include detail on how the ICB proposes to 
discharge its duties, including its duty with respect to reducing inequalities and regarding 
public involvement and consultation. It will also need to articulate how the ICS will support 
the implementation of the joint Health and Wellbeing strategy. The ICB will be required to 
secure the support of the Health and Wellbeing Board for both its long-term and annual 
plans. The Health and Wellbeing Board will be formally consulted while the plans are in draft, 
to test that they take sufficient account of the local Health and Wellbeing strategy for the 
periods that each plan relates to. Published plans will then include a statement of final 
opinion of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

This requirement to formally consult with the Health and Wellbeing Board, negates an option 
under which the Integrated Care Partnership and Health and Wellbeing Board can be 
entirely merged. However, an aligned option is possible under the legislation.

2.4 Responsibilities of the Integrated Care Partnership
Under the new legislation, the relevant Local Authority will share the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) with the Integrated Care Partnership. The Integrated Care Partnership 
will specifically be responsible for developing an integrated care strategy or long-term plan 
for improving health care, social care and public health based on the assessed needs of the 
population. The strategy will set out how the assessed needs of the population will be met by 
through the exercising of the functions of the ICB, NHS England and the Local Authorities. 
Section 75 arrangements under the NHS Act 2006 will be one vehicle through which ICPs 
are expected to implement the strategy. The draft legislation confirms an intent for both 
Local Healthwatch organisations and local people and communities to be involved in the 
development of the strategy. The ICP will be required to publish its Integrated Care strategy.
It is expected that ICPs will build on existing collaborations and support broad and inclusive 
place-based partnerships that bring together both statutory and non-statutory interests. In 
supporting co-ordination and integration across the health and care agenda, ICPs will 
address how resource is used creatively to tackle:

• Inequalities in health outcomes
• The wider determinants that drive inequalities
• Improving life chances and health outcomes of babies, children, and young people
• Prevention of ill-health

Page 7

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0642-ics-design-framework-june-2021.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0905-vcse-and-ics-partnerships.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0905-vcse-and-ics-partnerships.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-care-partnership-icp-engagement-document
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-care-partnership-icp-engagement-document


4

2.5 Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board 
The recommendations from the LGA prevention system peer review in 2018 led to the 
development of a new Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Gloucestershire and a revised 
membership for the board with seven priorities: 

• Physical activity 
• Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and resilience 
• Mental wellbeing 
• Social isolation and loneliness 
• Healthy lifestyles – health weight 
• Early year and best start in life 
• Housing 

The Health and Wellbeing Board does not hold a budget but takes a position as a system 
leader to enable and facilitate change to improve population health and wellbeing. The board 
has always been clear that its purpose is to focus on actions whereby working together we 
can make the biggest difference to those in the greatest need. For each of the priorities, the 
focus is where the board can truly add value. In addition to these priorities, the board also 
agreed to keep a watching brief over: 

• Green infrastructure 
• Air quality 
• Transport 
• Economic development 

These are key areas which have a vital contribution to health, but in acknowledging this the 
board also recognised that they are already overseen by other parts of our Gloucestershire 
system.

Addressing health inequalities acts as the golden thread throughout the strategy with each 
priority challenged to consider how the delivery of this contributes to reducing health 
inequalities.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a key role in ensuring that there is a sustained focus 
on embedding prevention across the health and social care system, taking a place-based 
approach (looking at communities and neighbourhoods) that goes beyond just thinking about 
what public sector services provide.

2.6 Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS)
Our vision is to improve health and wellbeing of our population, we believe that by all 
working better together - in a more joined up way, and using the strengths of individuals, 
carers and local communities - we will transform the quality of support and care we provide 
to all local people.

The context of our system priorities, described within our Long Term Plan, remain at the 
centre of our approach:
 Strong recovery: supporting our population as we recover from Covid-19 and the socio-

economic impacts of the last year
 Improve population health: through place-based integrated working, placing a greater 

a focus on personal responsibility, wellbeing and prevention and self-care; supporting 
people to help themselves, complemented by a focus on delivering proactive care in 

Page 8



5

partnership with local communities, building capacity across primary, community and the 
VCSE (voluntary, community and social enterprise) 

 Improve mental health: including improving dementia care and a renewed focus on 
mental health and wellbeing, additional support for regular users of health and care 
services. Ensure parity of esteem for mental and physical health.

 Implement the Fit for the Future programme to progress our ambitions to bring 
together specialist resources in Centres of Excellence to support safe, evidence based 
and effective care.

 Improve access to care: focusing on reducing waits and delivering high quality 
pathways for planned care supported by transformation across our planned and cancer 
care pathways. Taking a continuous improvement approach to the delivery of urgent 
and emergency care to ensure timely and appropriate care is delivered to all who need 
to access our urgent care pathways

 Reducing inequality: reducing the differences in quality of life and clinical outcomes 
between our most and least deprived areas.

 Improving care across the life course, including increasing our focus on the needs of 
Children & Families, working together to support a strong start for all and supporting 
people to age well, including improving care for those who are frail or have dementia.

 Focus on enabling conditions for delivery including: 
 fostering a culture of engagement and co-creation 
 continuing existing enabling programmes in estates and digital roadmap
 Develop new roles and ways of working to make best use of the workforce we have, 

and bring new people and skills into our system to deliver care
 increasing our system sustainability, delivering financial stability and sustainability 

as a system
 ensuring effective governance that facilitates shared decision making as we 

develop towards becoming a statutory ICS

3. The ICS and Health and Wellbeing Board joint workshop structure
A joint workshop was convened with the Health and Wellbeing Board and the ICS Board on 
21st September 2021. The objectives were:

• To understand the current function and membership of the two Boards 
• To explore options for how the Health and Wellbeing Board and Integrated Care 

Partnership will operate in Gloucestershire
• Reflect on the existing governance architecture as it relates to the Boards and how 

future arrangement will meet population needs. 

3.1 Understand current functions and membership
Presentations covered the current functions and priorities of the two current Boards. The 
membership list for both was shared. The group was then divided into three breakout 
groups. The first session focused on the current situation and asked people to consider:

 How well are the current arrangements working to improve health and wellbeing of 
the population?

 What more might we need to hold the system to account for health and wellbeing 
improvement

 What are the opportunities and challenges?

Page 9



6

3.2 Explore options
Three options were presented for the Operating Model of the Integrated Care Partnership:

Option 1:  A Merged Health and Wellbeing Board and ICP
This option was considered at an early stage, but the content of the Health and Care Bill now 
means that this option would not be compliant with the requirements reflected in the draft 
legislation.

Option 2:  The Health and Wellbeing Board and ICP operate as two separate entities
This option remains available but would be time, capacity, and resource intensive and would 
risk duplication of effort and attendance for individuals and organisations.

Option 3:  An Aligned Operating Model for the Health and Wellbeing and ICP Boards
It is not possible to statutorily combine the Integrated Care Partnership and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. However, an aligned model whereby the two boards work in tandem and 
meet in common with a shared secretariat and a co-ordinated approach to agenda planning 
is possible to achieve. 

3.3 Reflect on existing governance and how future arrangements will meet 
population need
The second breakout group session used a case study (either frailty, complex lives or 
diabetes) and asked participants to consider the following:

• Which teams are operationally responsible for this case study?
• What role would each Board play in relation to your case study?
• What other governance structures might be involved (if any)?

4. Key points from the workshop
The preferred operating model was option 3 - to align the Health and Wellbeing and ICP 
Boards. This would avoid the risk of unnecessary dual reporting and bureaucratic burden. It 
could facilitate the delivery of joint sessions of the ICP and the Health and Wellbeing Boards 
where this is the most expedient way of progressing business and decisions. Duties that sit 
purely within the jurisdiction of the Health and Wellbeing Board would be identified for 
bespoke meetings with all other business conducted in the joint session. This would enable 
the agendas to be aligned, prevent duplication and ensure a coherent shared approach. 

There was recognition that we already have a strong foundation. There are clear priorities 
and strategies already agreed in our system for improving the health and wellbeing of our 
population. This therefore presents an opportunity to create system change rather than 
develop new priorities and strategies.  We will also be able to ensure that we align the two 
Boards to prevent duplication and secure the greatest benefit for our communities. 

As this is developed, the governance arrangements need to be very clear and effective. By 
clarifying the roles and responsibilities of Boards and groups involved in the 
planning/delivery in the system and how they relate to each other, this will improve our 
overall effectiveness in delivering our ambition for Gloucestershire. There was a strong 
theme from the discussions that we need to give more consideration to how we engage and 
work with communities. There was agreement that HealthWatch should be included in the 
ICP membership. 

Page 10



7

There was recognition that further work is essential to develop the ICP and Health and 
Wellbeing Board alignment. There was suggestion of a shared secretariat to service the 
functions of both Boards. The logistics of this need further consideration.   

5. Next Steps
Further refinement is still needed for the design of the Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
Partnership in the light of any further national guidance and any amendments to the 
legislation.

The next steps are to ratify the decision to progress with the preferred model/option and to 
now work through the detail about how this would work in practice. There needs to be 
decisions about membership, how the agenda’s of both boards can be aligned and how 
each board discharge its statutory functions. 

It is suggested that a secretariat rapidly formed to work through this more granular detail. 

The timeline for decision making is as follows: 

2 November 2021 Health and Wellbeing Board paper and discussion to review progress from 
workshop and next steps

18 January 2022 Health and Wellbeing Board decision paper and amended Terms of 
Reference

14 March 2022 Constitution Committee Paper requesting amendment to Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s Terms of Reference in the Council’s constitution

18 May 2022 Full Council – Paper to ratify the decision made by Constitution Committee

6. Recommendations to Health and Wellbeing Board

 Acknowledge the timeline for decision making.

 Confirm that option 3 (aligning both boards) is the preferred option.

 Agree that a joint secretariat should be formed to serve both boards and suggest 
potential membership for this.  

 Agree that the secretariat will initially consider and make recommendations on the details 
of the functions and form of both boards. Over time the secretariat will provide the 
‘engine room’ for the boards with agenda planning and monitoring functions to support 
the work. 

 Note that the meetings of both boards will be aligned so they will meet on the same day 
in succession.

 Acknowledge that there should be further clarification about how the voice of 
patients/carers/citizens will be represented at the ICP.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Health and Wellbeing Board Dashboard Development

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information and decision

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Public Health and Adult 
Social Care

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health 
Organisation Gloucestershire County Council 
Key Issues:  
 Work has been progressing each of the seven Health and Wellbeing Board priorities.  
To  understand and measure how each of these priority areas progress over time, it 
was agreed by the Board that a dashboard is required to set some baseline 
measures, to understand similarities and differences in our population compared with 
the rest of England, and understand what changes have already been happening 
over time. 

This paper sets out the scope of the dashboard and articulates how this will link with 
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for a greater depth of data and 
intelligence. The dashboard will be presented at the Health and Wellbeing Board 2 
November 2021 meeting. 

Recommendations to Board: 
1. Acknowledge the scope of the Health and Wellbeing dashboard in the context 

of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) refresh.
2. Approve proposed indicators included in the dashboard. 

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



Health and Wellbeing Board Dashboard Development

1. Purpose
Work has been progressing each of the seven Health and Wellbeing Board priorities.  To  
understand and measure how each of these priority areas progress over time, it was agreed 
by the Board that a dashboard is required to set some baseline measures, to understand 
similarities and differences in our population compared with the rest of England, and 
understand what changes have already been happening over time. 

This paper sets out the scope of the dashboard and articulates how this will link with the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for a greater depth of data and intelligence. 

2. Dashboard development
2.1 Principles
Work has started on developing a high-level dashboard for the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
It is important that this does not replicate the JSNA, but instead acts as an overall summary 
of a smaller number of key indicators for the agreed priorities to give the Board an oversight 
of progress toward the agreed outcomes. 

The key principles for the dashboard development are:

• It should be designed as a high level summary of the health and wellbeing system in 
relation to the key priorities of the Board

• The indicators aim to provide succinct measures which describe a clear overview of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board priority in as few points as possible. 

• It should focus on system wide indicators where possible, instead of service level 
indicators.

• It should enable comparisons to understand similarities and differences both within 
the county and between the county and national average. 

• It should enable the Health and Wellbeing Board to identify and prioritise the issues 
that are worth investigating further.

• It does not aim to reproduce the JSNA

2.2 Key consideration
The dashboard displays a number of indicators for each priority and for each of these it will 
aim to address the following:

• What is being measured? 
• Why is it being measured? 
• How is this indicator actually defined?
• Who does it measure? 
• When does it measure it? 
• Does it measure absolute numbers or proportions? 
• Where does the data actually come from? 
• How accurate and complete is the data? 
• Are there any other caveats/issue to consider?

Page 14



2.3 Selection of indicators
For each of the Health and Wellbeing priorities, between three and five high level indicators 
have been selected. These have been chosen in consultation with key stakeholders or, 
where possible, with the partnership boards responsible for the delivery of the priority. 

When selecting the indicators, the following has been considered:

Clarity It is clear what it measures, outcomes or activities
Rationale It addresses a specific policy issue or draws attention to a particular outcome
Relevance It is relevant to the policy and action is available to improve
Attributable It measures progress attributable to the interventions/activities
Validity It has an unambiguous definition, is methodologically and technically sound 

from a reliable data source which is available at an appropriate level (eg LA / 
CCG) to make it meaningful and sustainable

Construction The methods used support the stated purpose of the indicator and there is 
transparency about how they have been tested and justified

Availability It is collected at sufficient level of geographical or organisational split

2.4 Data sources
The majority of the indicators are included on the Public Health Outcomes Framework which 
enables a national comparison. The limitation of this is that they are usually indicators which 
are updated annually and there is a time lag between the period of time being measured and 
the publication of the data. 

Where relevant, locally sourced data such as the Pupil Wellbeing Survey or Action on ACES 
Professional Survey results have been used. The limitation of this is that there are no 
national comparators and for some of these indicators there is no trend data. 

2.5 Comparators 
Many of the indicators on the dashboard are shaded red/amber/green to show if they are 
statistically significant differences from the England value (red showing worse and green 
showing better). Where the data does not lend itself to this approach but can be compared to 
all other local authorities in the country, the indicators are shaded blue to show which quintile 
the data fall into compared with other local authorities. 

Indicators that are shaded white are presented in this way because they do not have 
confidence intervals with which to compare against the benchmark value, and therefore it is 
not possible to determine whether the local value is statistically significantly higher or lower 
than the benchmark.

Where possible district level data is provided. Again, these are shaded red/amber/green to 
illustrate any statically significant difference between the district data and usually the 
England average or county average. The comparator for the district level data is made clear 
for each indicator for which this applies to.   

Page 15



3. Links to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)

3.1 Scope of the JSNA
The Health and Wellbeing Board previously agreed a plan to refresh the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA). It was recognised that the breath of topics which could be 
covered by the JSNA is very wide. The new JSNA will be a ‘live’ site which can be added to. 
However, the initial scope will include the following areas (which also deliberately cover the 
seven Health and Wellbeing Board priorities): 

Table 1: JSNA priority areas
Social isolation Adverse Childhood 

Experiences 
(ACEs)

Physical Activity Early years / best 
start in life

Healthy weight Housing and 
health

Mental wellbeing Cardiovascular 
disease

respiratory Diabetes frailty Antimicrobial 
resistance

Air pollution Smoking Alcohol

Health inequalities

Data, information and intelligence underpin JSNAs. But JSNAs are more than just a 
collection of evidence; they are an analysis of and narrative on this evidence. The JSNA 
process extracts and makes sense of evidence. 

3.2 Levels of detail 
The JSNA will be organised around each of the priority topics initially with other links back to 
the Population page and the Profiles page (which contains a range of geographical profiles) 
and to Other Resources (which include Fingertips, a nationally available analytical tool, and 
the Online Pupil Survey, and other resources, some of which will be added at a later date).

Each priority area will be organised to a consistent standard layout accommodating our 
three-tiered approach:

 Level 1 – Priority Topic Infographics

 Level 2 – Priority Topic Summary

 Level 3 – Priority Topic Deep Dives and Needs Analyses

3.2.1 Level 1 – Infographic:
 The infographic will comprise data collected from fingertips and other readily 

available information. 

 It is envisaged that an officer from the Data and Analysis Team will work alongside a 
PH commissioner/ consultant to agree the relevant indicators for, and engage the 
GCCG and other partners  in contributing to, each infographic, 

 Each infographic will be approximately 1-2 pages of A4 and they will have a standard 
look and feel.

Page 16



The Infographics would lend themselves to providing a level of accessibility of the JSNA to 
members of the public while also giving a headline view of the priority areas to all 
partnership staff directing them to areas they may wish to investigate further. Equally, the 
outputs should enable staff to make wider use of them in presentations and wider 
information sharing and raising awareness of the issues across the system.

3.2.2 Level 2 – Summary Analyses
Building out beyond the high-level infographic a range of data may already be available or 
can be pulled together to provide summary tables, graphs and statistics to support each 
priority topic area. These outputs will be published in this tier to provide further summarised 
data. In many cases these may be performance indicators or metrics and may be presented 
in scorecard or dashboard format. Alternatively, this level may be derived or based on 
selecting the Executive Summaries from the existing Deep Dives and/or Needs Analyses.

This tier of information and analysis requires further thought from the Data & Analysis Team, 
with input from the JSNA Steering Group, before commencing any activity. Current thinking 
suggests this tier could be more dependent on the availability of suitable technology to 
automate the production of dashboards and indicators, so could be rolled up in to 
forthcoming workstreams of the programme within the council to rollout Microsoft Power BI 
over the coming 2-3 years.

3.2.3 Level 3 – Deep Dives & Needs Analyses
 Existing Deep Dives/Needs Analysis will be published on the JSNA page in this tier, 

under the relevant priority
 As such, they will not follow a set template but instead each one will have a different look 

and feel
 Where a Deep Dive/Needs Analysis does not currently exist for a priority topic, it will be 

developed over time, acknowledging that resource may not be available immediately. 
Not all topics will be suitable for accompanying deep dive. 

Some analysis and activity already exists or is already underway in some of these areas; 
other topics will need extensive work to develop a suite of analyses to underpin them within 
a JSNA environment.

4. Inequalities 
A number of the indicators on the dashboard reflect inequalities with deprivation featuring as 
part of the indicator. However, there is limited data available to truly reflect the inequalities 
across each of the priorities. Further work needs to be done possibly through the Health 
Inequalities Panel to develop a greater understanding of available indicators. 

5. Dashboard updates and revisions
The Health and Wellbeing dashboard which is presented at the Board meeting on 2 
November 2021 is under development. The Board are asked to review and agree the 
selected indicators. Further revisions will be required to the dashboard. However, the focus 
should also be on the development of the JSNA which will over time provide a rich source of 
data and intelligence for each of the seven priority areas.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Child Friendly Gloucestershire: Children and Young People’s 
Wellbeing Coalition – Update Report.

Item for 
decision or 
information?

At the July meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board the 
Coalition was challenged to be more ambitious for the county’s 
young people and to further develop the work programmes to 
include targets and outcomes. 

This has now been progressed and the Coalition Brochure is 
brought to the Board for amendment/sign off. 

Sponsor

Author Wellbeing Coalition Chair: Dame Janet Trotter
Wellbeing Coalition Lead Officer: Andy Dempsey

Organisation Children and Young People’s Wellbeing Coalition

Key Issues:  

The Coalition is rooted in Section 10 of the 2004 Children’s Act which gives 
responsibility to the County Council to co-ordinate partner activity for securing 
the health and wellbeing of all children and young people. In order to meet this 
responsibility, the Coalition must be meaningful: a forum for conversations 
between key actors about service effectiveness and significant change, which 
results in purposeful action and demonstrable impact for children and young 
people. It must be a driving force for the development of our collective 
endeavour rather than a point of reference after the fact.

It is important, therefore, that the Health and Wellbeing Board, as the parent 
body, gives the Coalition a clear mandate to progress in this manner.  A range 
of work programmes have now commenced, with targets to determine impact 
either agreed or in development. Additionally, the Coalition anticipates that, over 
time, the Board will increasingly invite it to take forward work with partners to 
ensure that young people have the best possible start in life in the county.

The Coalition Brochure is a key element in embedding a shared appreciation of 
its role and purpose.  A number of major changes to the document have been 
made since the July Health and Wellbeing Board, as follows:

- The name has been changed from the Child Friendly Coalition to the 
Gloucestershire Children and Young People’s Wellbeing Coalition – this 
is a more inclusive title and many young people in the 10 – 25-year age 
bracket has indicated that they object to being  categorised as children 

- A Case for Change has been added – Part 1
- The Vision and Mission Statement have been strengthened – Part 2
- The sections on Engagement and Priority Work Streams – Parts 3 and 4 

have been strengthened
- The biographies (Part 6) have been amended.

Page 19

Agenda Item 9



In addition to the Brochure, the Coalition has been invited to become involved 
in the cross-sector discussions currently underway to explore a Family Hub 
model for the county, in response to the Leadson Report.  This arose out a 
consultation exercise initiated by the Children’s Commissioning Team around 
the recommissioning of the Children and Family Centres that evolved to 
consider the potential for this to support a Family Hub model. 

The commissioning of the Children and Family Centres has a timetable 
determined by existing contractual arrangements which will require an 
incremental approach towards the development of a Family Hub model. As 
such, the initial piece of commissioning will be key and the Coalition, and its 
Best Start in Life Sub Group, are keen to be involved in developing exciting 
proposals and options with the Commissioning Team.
Recommendations to Board: 
The Board is invited to:

1. Endorse the approach being taken by the Coalition

2. Sign off the Coalition Brochure, including the Vision, Mission Statement 
and Work Programmes – giving a delegation to the Chair of the 
Wellbeing Coalition to make any final changes.

3. Agree the name of the Coalition will in future be Gloucestershire’s 
Children and Young People’s Wellbeing Coalition

4. Welcome the involvement of the Coalition in the development of a Family 
Hub model for the county.

   

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None currently.

Page 20



GLOUCESTERSHIRE FUTURES

THE CHILDREN & YOUNG
PEOPLE'S WELLBEING
COALITION
September 2021

Page 21



An African proverb states that it takes a village or

community to raise a child and this is one of the

beliefs of the Gloucestershire's Children & Young

People Wellbeing Coalition.

Introduction

Gloucestershire is fortunate to have a rich
tapestry of statutory, faith, commercial and
community organisations which work with
families and young people to support their
development. However, they do not always
work together to maximise their use of
resources and talent for the benefit of all.

The Coalition was founded in 2020 and is
rooted in Section 10 of the 2004 Children’s Act
which gives responsibility to the County
Council to co-ordinate partner activity for
securing the health and wellbeing of all
children and young people. It also links to the
County's 2050 Vision.  It operates alongside
the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children
Partnership (GSCP) with its focus on the
efficacy of multi-agency safeguarding
arrangements across the county. Partners
currently include statutory agencies, schools
and colleges, the Voluntary and Community
Sector Alliance, the Local Enterprise
Partnership and faith communities.

In 2021 the Coalition made tentative steps
forward during the Covid pandemic but the
Coalition and its responsible body, 
 Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board,
has encouraged it to be increasingly
ambitious as the county moves towards
recovery.

This document sets out the Coalition’s vision
and mission which are derived from extensive
consultation, particularly with young people.

The Coalition has a particular approach to its
work which marks it out from many other
organisations:

It will look at the county and the services
provided through the eyes of the young
person and their families:
It will develop work programmes which
will be strategic in intent and directed
towards clear targets and outcomes;
It will always work in a cross -
organisational way in order to bring the
most appropriate talent and experience
around the table to solve problems, many
of which have been present in the
community for some time; all partners
will have parity of esteem;
It will seek opportunities to draw
organisations together to maximise the
use of resources
It will evaluate its work according to ‘value
for money’ principles but will also report
on what it has achieved in relation to, for
example, equality, diversity and access.

Informed by these principles this document
sets out the rationale for the Coalition and
how it will operate.  It then considers
engagement issues.

The actions/outcomes of our current work
programmes are then set out and the
brochure concludes with the current
membership of the Coalition Board.

We look forward to working with you in the
coming years on this important agenda and
hope you will refer issues to us as our work
develops. 

1

Page 22



The Covid pandemic has been described as perhaps the most significant

challenge facing the United Kingdom since the Second World War.  Its effects

have been felt in all aspects of our society and whilst the long term impacts

are not yet fully understood, they are likely to be significant and enduring.

Part 1: The case for change

The evidence that has emerged to date is
that the pandemic has exacerbated many
pre-existing inequalities, impacting
disproportionately on the most vulnerable
and disadvantaged.
 
The most recent Child Health Profile (2019)
published prior to the pandemic shows that
outcomes for children and young people in
Gloucestershire are on the whole at, or
around, national averages. In contrast,
outcomes for vulnerable, disadvantaged
and marginalised groups are less positive,
with the gaps in some respects greater than
other localities and some increasing. Covid
is likely to have widened these gaps further.
 
On a more positive note, the challenges
posed by Covid have further highlighted the
importance of strong, local partnership
relationships in driving change and
responding swiftly to changing
circumstances. 

The Children and Young People's Wellbeing
Coalition aims to provide a strategic forum
to influence and direct positive change, and
enable a coherent whole system response
as we move from response to recovery. If
the Health and Wellbeing Board is
necessarily pre-occupied with the wellbeing
of all Gloucestershire citizens, the Children
and Young People’s Wellbeing Coalition will
play a similar role for the wellbeing of all
children and young people in the county.

Over the past twelve months a number of
national initiatives have set out a future
direction of travel for services for children
and young people. The Early Years Healthy
Development Review Report: The Best Start
for Life proposes a multi-agency, hub based
model to provide seamless support for
families at the earliest stages of life. Integral
to realising its vision, is a shared approach
towards the leadership of change, with
strong local accountability and the active
participation of all sectors. Alongside this,
the Independent Review of Children’s Social
Care: The Case for Change, makes the case
for a pivot away from acute services
towards effective early help.

The reform agenda over the past ten or
more years has left a complex and
atomised operational landscape, that can
be challenging for practitioners, let alone
children and families to navigate. Our
ability to respond effectively to these
agendas will require a strategic forum to
engage sectors and mobilise partners in
developing and delivering our shared
vision. This can be a particular challenge in
a large and diverse county like
Gloucestershire.
 
In conclusion, the Children and Young
People's Wellbeing Coalition must become
the place where change is discussed and
mandated at the earliest opportunity with
authentic and ongoing engagement and
consultation with young people at its heart.

2

Page 23



The Children and Young People's Wellbeing Coalition is intended to be the

focal point in the county for the development of services for all children,

young people and their families as part of a collective response to Section 10

of the Children's Act (2004).

Part 2: The Coalition

This Act places a duty on the Director
for Children's Services (DCS) and Lead
Member for Children's Services (LMCS)
to co-ordinate the work of local
partners to secure the health and
wellbeing of all children and young
people.

The Coalition comprises a diverse range
of organisations from faith, voluntary,
commercial and statutory sectors to
secure the wellbeing of all children and
young people in the county.

We aspire to become a county where all
children and young people flourish, a
'child and young person friendly'
county, within which all partners view
children and young people as an asset
to be valued and nurtured for the
future as part of Leadership
Gloucestershire's 2050 Vision.

Working with young people and
listening to their diverse voices
Achieving change for the benefit
of all of the county’s children and
young people
Equality of opportunity for all of
the county’s children and young
people
Collaboration
Parity of esteem between all
engaged in the work
Building trust between Coalition
partners
Openness, transparency and
accountability
Honesty and integrity

Operating Principles
The work of the Coalition will be
underpinned by the following
principles:

Information sharing and the
management of data can be found
here:

3

Page 24



High quality education

at all stages of their

learning and are

equipped with skills

for life

OUR VISION
WE ASPIRE TO A COUNTY WHERE ALL

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

FLOURISH

Through our Coalition we will ensure all

children and young people have access to:

Services which

support them in living

healthy lives

An environment

where they are safe

from harm

Opportunities to

tackle climate change

postively

The economic and

social benefits of

living in the county,

including physical and

digital connectivity

Affordable recreation

and cultural activities

We will achieve this by:

working collaboratively and

transparently across a wide

range of public sector, faith,

community, voluntary and

commercial organisations to

maximise effectiveness

engaging diverse groups

of children and young

people and their families

in shaping services for

their benefit

tackling inequalities

and drawing on

evidence to develop

services

reflecting on work

programmes and their

outcomes and evaluating

progress against our

ambitions.

Page 25



The Coalition's Terms of Reference

The Coalition will report to the Health & Wellbeing Board and will:

 Develop a regular programme of
action planning for defined areas of
work, expected outcomes and
timescales for completion together
with resource requirements.

Provide a co-ordinating link to the
wider network of groups, plans and
strategies for children and young
people in the county. 

Provide regular reports on progress
to the Health and Welling Board.

Establish working groups to achieve
its aims or work through existing
groups as appropriate – The first
three priority areas are: mental
health; pre-birth to 5 years; and
transition from school to
college/work. Each Working Group
will have separate written TORs.

Explore issues of concern referred
to it by Coalition partners.

Establish arrangements to engage
and consult with children and young
people to ensure their views inform
the work of the Coalition and
explore whether positive change is
achieved.

Develop a communications plan and
ensure key partners are informed
about and involved in the work of
the Coalition.

Develop a data dashboard and
participate in benchmarking
activities to ensure services are
demonstrably improving and the
aims of the Coalition are being met.

Establish regional, national and
international links to draw-in
expertise and best practice.

Maintain a risk register to
understand and mitigate threats to
progress; supported by exception
reporting on a regular basis so that
risks are debated and provision
agreed for them to be well
managed.

5

Page 26



L E A D E R S H I P  G L O U C E S T E R S H I R E

V i s i o n  f o r  t h e  c o u n t y

S t e e r i n g  G r o u p

D i r e c t o r  o f  P a r t n e r s h i p s

&  S t r a t e g y

P r o j e c t  S u p p o r t  O f f i c e r

D a t a  A n a l y t i c s

A d m i n  s u p p o r t

S u b g r o u p s  a n d  
T a s k  &  F i n i s h

g r o u p s
t o  a d d r e s s  k e y

t h e m e s  a n d
a c t i v i t i e s  e g :
F a m i l y  H u b s

H E A L T H  &  W E L L B E I N G  B O A R D

H e a l t h  a n d  w e l l b e i n g  o f
t h e  w h o l e  p o p u l a t i o n

H e a l t h  a n d  w e l l b e i n g  o f  a l l  c h i l d r e n  a n d
y o u n g  p e o p l e  ( p r e - b i r t h  t o  1 8  ( 2 5 + ) )

P r i o r i t y  P r o j e c t s
P r e - b i r t h  t o  5
T r a n s i t i o n  t o
e m p l o y m e n t / F E
M e n t a l  H e a l t h
V a l u e s

O v e r s i g h t  &
a s s u r a n c e

o f  a l l  e x i s t i n g
p a r t n e r s h i p s  a n d

p l a n s  f o r  C Y P
e . g .  V a l u e s  G r o u p s

T H E  C O A L I T I O N

E n g a g e m e n t  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n s  w i t h  C Y P

W o r k  w i t h  y o u t h  r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s  a n d  g r o u p s
S p e c i f i c / t h e m a t i c  c o m m s  a c t i v i t y
F e e d b a c k  f r o m  C Y P  a r o u n d  i m p a c t  a n d  c h a n g e

The Children and Young People's Wellbeing Coalition relates to the wider

governance framework of the county in the following way

6

Page 27



Embedding young people and
families in the work streams so they
are at the heart of strategy and
policy development. They are
currently involved in the Mental
Health work stream and in that
related to the Transition from
School to Work;

Mapping the groups and facilities in
the county which are available to
children and young people. This will
identify gaps in provision and ways
in which they might be filled;

Developing with young people the
channels most appropriate to use in
the context of the work of the
Coalition.

The Coalition is designed to be the focal point in the county for the

development of services for all children, young people and their families under

Section 10 of the Children's Act (2004).

Part 3: Engagement

Ensuring that a wide range of young
people is involved in the work of the
Coalition and that authentic
dialogue is achieved on a range of
issues. It is possible that anchor
institutions will be identified in each
area of the county and they will be
used, in addition to schools and
colleges, to act as conduits, where
appropriate, to gather young
people's views;

The Coalition's approach will only be
successful if it engages with young
people, families and community
partners at each step of the way.

The intention is to 'hear' the many
voices of diverse groups and to use the
findings to drive the changes which,
within the resource constraints set, will
make a real difference to young
people's lives to support this process.

The Engagement programme is at its
formative stage.  It currently includes
the following:

7

Page 28



Working with children, young people and families, the Coalition has

developed a number of priority workstreams.  As appropriate, young people

will be embedded in these to enable and facilitate wider consultation with

their peers.

Part 4: Priority Work

Streams (2021)

Best Start in Life

8

Emotional Wellbeing, Mental
Health and Young People

Transition to Work/
Further Education

Exploration of Values and
Ethical Issues (related to the
Coalition's work)

The work programme is dynamic and already there is a discussion about the
Coalition being centrally involved in the Family Hubs development.

Page 29



Best Start in Life subgroup

Working Group 1: Best Start in Life

The Best Start in Life Group draws upon the perspectives of a wide range of partners
regarding the provision of a range of services, universal and targeted, from
conception to five years old.  The working group seeks generally to:

Listen to children and their families from across Gloucestershire so that we can
understand the barriers and enablers to better health and wellbeing and ensure
that their wishes are at the heart of everything we do.
Work in partnership to identify children that would benefit from early
intervention and support services but are not currently doing so.
Hold shared accountability for improving outcomes for those aged pre 0-5.
Ensure that clear information on services and support is available and accessible,
including to families who may be less likely to access support and who may need
it the most.
Support the development of the national Start for Life offer as this is rolled out.
Provide support to address the impact of COVID-19 on families.
Work in partnership, and escalate where necessary, workforce and pathway
issues that prevent or restrict the delivery of the support services needed in
Gloucestershire (e.g. workforce capacity).
Facilitate integrated commissioning and provision which enables efficient,
effective and child friendly services.

9

Governance

Attachment and responsive parenting
Childhood poverty
Healthy lifestyles including oral health
Childhood immunisations in 0-5 year
olds
School readiness (with a focus on
those in receipt of free school meals)
Vulnerable children

Best Start in Life is a priority for the Health
and Wellbeing Board.  The Joint Health
and Wellbeing Strategy sets out key areas
of focus for the Best Start in Life including:

Health and Wellbeing Board

The Children & Young
People's Wellbeing Coalition

Page 30



10

Links into existing workstreams

A number of groups and teams work with the Best Start in Life Group which support
the delivery of its objectives, e.g. Better Births Maternity Transformation Programme,
Infant Feeding Strategic Partnership and ACE's Panel.

To avoid duplication of the various groups and teams' responsibilities, the main
focus of the Best Start in Life Group is on promoting attachment and positive
parenting, improving outcomes for young children and ensuring the voice of children
and families is at the heart of everything we do.

Targets and Outcomes

A robust offer of universally, available to all, provision in all communities of the
county for parents and young children (pre 0-4) based on research, data and
feedback from parents/children.
Early Years workforce (including universal parent/baby groups) that is confident
and skilled to identify and support children who have experienced trauma.
Accessible targeted support for those children who are at risk of falling behind.
Understanding and addressing the barriers to accessing support for some
parents/communities  (i.e. Health visitor 2 year old development review, 2 year
old funded nursery provision, universal parent/baby support).
Proactive systems in place to identify and support children at risk of falling
behind.

The key aims of the work to improve outcomes for young children include:

Page 31



Parents and baby/toddler groups accessible to all, in all areas of the county
Feedback from parents to reflect a better understanding of how to support their
child's development
An increase in take up of the 2 year old funded Early Years provision from 71% to
75%
More 2 year olds open to social care taking up their EY Childcare/Early Education
entitlement (currently 40% of eligible 2 year olds take up the offer and the target
is 60%+)
An increased percentage take up of Health Visitor 2 year old developmental
reviews (currently 84.1% receive a review before 2.5 years: target 95%)
Increasing the percentage of children attaining a good level of development at
the end of EYFS (medium term goal) (current attainment is 72% and the target is
73%, but data collection changes may affect this)
Narrowing the EYFS attainment gaps for children in receipt of free school meals
and black/white children in line with national average (medium term goal)
Increasing the number of Early Years practitioners trained in ACEs and trauma
informed practice (short term goal)
Feedback from practitioners to reflect an increased understanding of changed
practice that has enabled them to support children who have experienced
trauma.

Measurable targets/outcomes comprise:

11

Page 32



12

Providing a link for schools offering advice and support for children and young
people about whom the schools are concerned.
Providing 1:1 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy in groups or via the parenting
younger children around lower level anxiety, low mood, behavioural needs and
other low level mental health needs.
Provision of Senior Practitioners where there is complexity or risk which requires
specialist mental health assessments.

Young People have told us that good mental health and wellbeing is really important
to them. The Young Minds Matter Mental Health Support Teams provide support to
children and young people experiencing mild to moderate mental health needs: they
currently operate in parts of the county.  This project seeks to use parts of Gloucester
City as a demonstration project:  lessons learned will be promoted across the city
and county.  The teams generally have a number of functions including:

Working Group 2: Emotional Wellbeing, Mental Health and

Young People

Respiratory Conditions & Housing

Patient cohort:

High Intensity Users

Patient cohort:

To complement this the Team are testing out creative approaches to support health
and wellbeing using the arts and nature

To date this approach has been positively evaluated, including achieving reduced
demand to high-end interventions.

Building on this Trailblazer work in Gloucester City where we know mental health
needs are more prevalent and inequalities impact on health outcomes the Teams will
be working with a small number of schools in an area in Gloucester City as a
demonstration project.

There will be an exploration of what could help reduce inequalities and improve the
emotional and mental wellbeing of children and families utilising data on needs,
outcomes and best practice and working closely with children, families, schools and
partners, ensuring coproduction drives initiatives. 

The Teams will look at developing a range of meaningful indicators of success and
value with young people in addition to using some existing indicators such as the
pupil wellbeing survey indicators.

Page 33



13

Working Group 3: Transition to Work/Further Education

The aim of the workstream is to review what works and what does not work in terms
of careers education, information, advice and guidance (CEIAG).  Using this
information the group will work to improve careers support and work experience
programmes so young people are better prepared to make the transition to work.
Current context

Lagged and incomplete data
Different organisations being responsible for collating and presenting data sets
(e.g. youth employment, youth unemployment, student destinations)
Schools and colleges have limited resources to support and provide sufficient
non-teaching time for careers leads
Some schools and colleges not prioritising the recording and return of their
careers (Compass +) data returns, partly as a result of Covid-19 and other
pressures
Employers need help engaging effectively with schools and colleges and vice
versa. This is particularly the case for Small to Medium Enterprises (SMEs) and
micro businesses
The result of this complexity results in young people and adults who seek
support and guidance facing multiple challenges.

It is recognised that the landscape is complex and congested and that this presents
systemic challenges including:

Aims of the working group

maximise youth employment
minimise youth unemployment

Find sustainable solutions to timely data capture to better understand the
landscape and the issues.
Provide greater visibility to the nature and range of opportunities available in the
local labour market
Engage the local education system in developing a consistent CEIAG offer and
ensuring termly self-assessment returns to the Careers Hub (Compass + returns)
to drive and monitor improvement and support needed.
Ensure a rich careers offer is available (e.g. interview practice: 'Dragons Den' type
competitions: business breakfast; mentoring) which provides an effective bridge
between the education and employment sectors; costs need to be scoped and a
funding stream established.
Secure an effective, coherent service which supports all young people in
developing their potential and meets the changing needs of the local labour
market.

The key aims are to:

For these aims to be achieved and targets to be set there will be a need to:

Page 34



14

Working Group 4: Exploration of Values and Ethical Issues

Seek to establish working definitions of key words and phrases for the Coalition
e.g. wellbeing, diversity, inclusion, equality, fairness, kindness and Building Back
Better.  As part of this it will consider how the work of the Coalition can be
strengthened by establishing ways in which signs of desired change can be
'measured'.
Ensure that the Coalition listens to the 'voices' of those not normally around the
table.
Consider the Campaign Programme which the Coalition adopts to ensure the
values of the Coalition are being promoted by such activities.
Consider issues referred to it from time to time and recommend a course of
action if conflicts arise in relation to the values being espoused by the Coalition.
Receive an annual report of the Coalition's work related to values (issues to be
focused upon to be agreed on an annual basis with the Coalition Board).

The Coalition recognises that its agenda relates to particular values, definitions of
which are contested.  It also recognises that its work relates to fundamental beliefs
about the nature of human beings and society.  The Group will explore such issues in
order to achieve common understandings and purposes and assist the Coalition in
its work.  It will:

Page 35



15

The Coalition brings together a broad and diverse range of agencies from

across all sectors, with a shared commitment to improving outcomes for

children and young people in the county.

Part 5: Coalition Partners &

Board Members

It is the breadth and diversity that is its strength in enabling it to develop a
comprehensive appreciation of activity and its effectiveness.  

A further feature is our commitment to establish an authentic and evolving dialogue
with children and young people to inform our work.

Page 36



16

My passion and drive is simple: I want to see all young people
reach their potential. In my role with Young Gloucestershire I
work with disadvantaged young people aged 11 to 25 who are
facing challenges in their lives. Alongside this I also lead
Infobuzz, a county-wide organisation which offers therapeutic
and practical support for families and young people with
complex needs. For me, this is more than a job and you will
often find me raising money for Young Gloucestershire in my
spare time. I am hoping to bring this passion to the Coalition
and ensure the voices of all young people are heard.

Part 6: Who we are
We have a diverse group of individuals from a wide range of
organisations who make up our Coalition Board.

As a parent of two children who have come through the school
and college system in Gloucestershire, I understand the
importance of making sure young people are supported
through their schooling and beyond.In my current role, I'm
responsible for the work of the Gloucestershire Careers Hub
which brings schools, colleges and alternative provision
together to work with business and employer organisations to
inspire young people and help them make sound career
choices. I am hoping I can help the Coalition develop this
further and ensure all young people get the help they need to
make the right choices for them.

Peter Carr, Director of Emplyment and Skills, GLep

Tracy Clark, Chief Executive Officer, Young
Gloucestershire/Infobuzz

Lord Michael Bichard, Independent member
We have said for many decades that ‘every child
matters’.However, we continue to ignore their voice in the
decision making process. I am delighted to be part of this
Coalition which seeks to do just that, put the voice of our
children and young people at the heart of our work. In doing
so, we can seek to affect real and meaningful change. 

Jo Arnold
In 2018 I joined the Gloucestershire’s Office of the Police and
Crime Commissioner after teaching primary aged children for 7
years. My experience of teaching children has given me a
broad understanding of various aspects of young people and
has opened my eyes to the diverse challenges that many face
on a daily basis. I want to be part of the Coalition because I am
passionate about young people and making sure they have as
many opportunities to shine as possible

Page 37



17

Like so many of my Coalition colleagues, I believe children and
young people deserve the best start in life. As a grandfather, I
can see how important it is to ensure that the voice of the
youngest members of our communities are captured and
heard. Having always worked in Information Technology, I can
see the opportunities the digital world presents in engaging
effectively with children and young people.

Cllr Stephen Davis, Cabinet Member for Children’s
Safeguarding and Early Years

I joined the Coalition because I believe we should try to give
all young people the best possible start in life. After years of
working in the public sector in both health and local
government, I understand that so many organisations want to
do their best but sometimes don’t join up their work. I am
hoping I can help foster stronger partnership working
through the Coalition. Away from this, I enjoy looking after my
bees, brass bands and rare breed sheep!

Amanda Deeks, Independent Member

Having worked for over a decade in government, Gareth has led
a range of innovative programmes to improve public services
while meeting challenging savings targets. As the Chief
Executive of Cheltenham Borough Council he is leading an
organisation that is delivering a programme that seeks to make
Cheltenham the cyber capital of the UK, bring sustainable and
inclusive growth and support the economy and the borough to
recover from Covid-19.  

Gareth Edmundson

Proud to have been working for the NHS for a number of years
in both clinical and strategic roles; passionate about working
together with children, young people, families and partners to
improve health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities. 

Currently Programme Director leading on the Children and
Young Peoples Mental Health and Maternity Transformation
programmes in Gloucestershire.

Helen Ford

Page 38



18

For me, Child Friendly Gloucestershire is more than a Board. As
a hands-on Head Teacher at a Gloucestershire Primary School,
I can see how positive changes make a difference to the lives of
children. If I can’t see it, they are always very quick to tell me
about the good things in their lives. I want to bring this to the
Coaltion and make sure the voice of the youngest people in
our county are heard. To have the opportunity to listen, first
and foremost, to children and young people about what
matters most to them and then have the opportunity to work
hard together to make a difference, is a challenge that leaders
of schools across the county and I are ready to embrace.

Julie Fellows, Headteacher of Fairford School and
representative of the Gloucestershire Association
of Primary Headteachers (GAPH)

Baroness Rennie Fritchie, Independent Member
There is nothing more important than giving children the best
start in life. Their today is our tomorrow and the care and
investment we make now will lead to confident and aspiring
young people and thriving adults. This contributes to an
aspiring and thriving community. Child Friendly
Gloucestershire is a way to bring this ambition to life and I am
delighted to be part of this change programme.

After 30 years as an English teacher in a variety of secondary
schools, I am still amazed by our young people. Their
resilience, their passion and their dedication is
outstanding.Now more than ever. My hope from Child Friendly
Gloucestershire is that all young people see a tangible
difference to their lives here and that future generations build
on the work we start now.

Kirsten Harrison, 

I am an optimist and I believe that change for the greater good
is possible. It sometimes happens more slowly than some
would like but for change to be effective, it has to be right. This
is so true for our young people. When they need our help, we
need to be sure they are heard, understood and able to access
what they need, when they need it. This is fundamental to
building a brighter future for them and future generations.

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer,
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

Page 39



19

I have worked in various roles, across agencies, supporting
children and young people for over 20 years. I have always
been committed to improving outcomes for young people and
now in my role as Head of Early Years, I am passionate about
doing all we can to give children the best start in life. To make a
real difference it is vital for all partners to work together, to
listen and to hear what young people and families are telling
us is important to them.  The Coalition provides this
opportunity for positive joined up working that will see tangible
change; I am excited to be part of it.

Sarah Hylton

Compared to some of the other Board members I am relatively
new to Gloucestershire. However, my commitment to the
county is clear and our young people are vital to our success
and future growth. What I am enjoying about starting
somewhere new is that I see the county through the eyes of
my young grandchildren. Listening to them and seeing them
respond to things that many take for granted is a great way to
shape my thoughts and work in the future. 

Rhiannon Kirk, Assistant Chief Constable,
Gloucestershire Constabulary

I have worked in the third sector for more years than I want to
admit! But my time has shown the important role charity and
not-for-profit organisations have in getting the voice of young
people heard, especially those hard-to-reach voices.Now
more than ever, this is vital to the work going on across the
county. I believe actions speak louder than words and I look
forward to bringing the Child Friendly Gloucestershire agenda
to life.

Matt Leonard, Chief Officer, VCS Alliance

Elaine Pearson-Scott, Executive Director
Gloucestershire Nightstop and Chair of
Gloucestershire Voluntary Sector BME Network.
I am a Gloucestershire girl, born and bred. After moving
around the UK for education and work, I came back to
Gloucester for family reasons and now I can’t imagine living
anywhere else. I have worked with young people throughout
my career and want to support those in Gloucestershire during
times of difficulty. I hope to bring a different voice to the
Coalition to make sure all young people are represented.

Page 40



20

In my experience strong working relations, collaboration and
integration are vital to success. This is why I am so excited
about the opportunities the Child Friendly Gloucestershire
Coalition presents. In my role, I see the benefits true
collaboration brings and I hope I can bring this skill and
experience to help the Coalition drive the agenda forward.

Sarah Scott, Exectuive Director of Adult Social
Care and Public Health, Gloucestershire County
Council

I'm an avid Birmingham City fan but left behind my beloved
hometown to join Cheltenham Borough Homes (CBH) in 2012,
going on to become its CEO. As a dad of two young children,
one of the great things about moving to Gloucestershire is that
it is an amazing county to grow up in. However, my twelve
years in the housing sector have taught me that there isn’t a
level playing field of opportunity for all children. I want every
child in the county to have the same opportunities to be what
they want to be and that is why I want to be part of the Board
of Child Friendly Gloucestershire.

Steve Slater, CEO Cheltenham Borough Homes

As a Gloucestershire resident for more than 40 years, my
children have been born and bred in the county. They attended
local schools which has served them well and I understand the
difference the right educational environment can make to a
child.  I also understand just how important a positive
childhood is. All children deserve the best possible start in life
and I look forward to the opportunity the Coalition brings to
make this happen for all our young people. 

Chris Spencer, Director of Children's Services,
Gloucestershire County Council

God has always been part of my life. As a student I volunteered
with the Missions to Seafarers first in Rotterdam and then in
Fremantle, Western Australia, meeting seafarers of all nations
and faiths. In 2010 I moved with my wife and two children to
Gloucestershire to become Archdeacon of Cheltenham. During
my time here I have been able to develop my commitment to
children through my work with schools and I am currently the
Chair of the Diocesan Board of Education and a trustee of All
Saints Academy in Cheltenham.

Bishop Robert Springett, Bishop of Tewkesbury,
Diocese of Gloucester

Page 41



21

It is a privilege to chair the Coalition and bring such a talented
group together for the greater good. We can achieve so much
more by working together and a collaborative style is one of
the skills I am hoping to bring to the Coalition.I have been
involved in working with young people for most of my adult life
and I firmly believe that all deserve the best possible start in
life. I also consider that as a community we should help them
to be the best that they can be. I look forward to working with
the other Coalition members on making a real and tangible
difference to our children and young people.

Dame Janet Trotter, Chair of The Gloucestershire
Children & Young People's Coalition

Other members of the team:
Andy Dempsey (Coalition Lead Officer)
More than 30 years working in a wide range of local authority roles
and partnership arrangements has taught me the value of working
together.  In my current role as the Director of Partnerships and
Strategy for Gloucestershire County Council Children’s Services, I
hope to strengthen and grow the relationships already in action
across the county.

Kim Brierley (Communications)
As a mum of two young children, I believe the work Child Friendly
Gloucestershire is doing is invaluable.  I have worked in the
communications industry for more than 15 years and I'm hoping to
help the Coalition really find and listen to the voice of all young
people.

Page 42



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021 - 2024

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information 

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Public Health and Adult 
Social Care

Author Helen Flitton, Head of Commissioning, Drugs and Alcohol and 
Domestic Abuse

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council 
Key Issues:  
The new Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021 – 2024 reflects our 
commitment to ensuring an ongoing robust response to domestic abuse in the 
county, and fulfils the statutory requirement set out in the Domestic Abuse Act 
2021.

This report outlines the findings of the recent domestic abuse needs 
assessment and how the recommendations from that report have informed the 
development of the new strategy, giving us five priorities over the next three 
years:

 Prevention and early intervention
 Multi-agency working and pathway development
 Workforce development
 High quality service provision for victims and their families
 Working to break the cycle of perpetrator behaviour

The next steps are outlined and the Board is asked to support the priorities 
identified in the Strategy and the development of the multi-agency delivery 
plan.
Recommendations to Board: 

The board is recommended to

1. Note the development of the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy 
2021 – 2024.

2. Support the priorities identified in the strategy and the development of 
the multi-agency delivery plan.

Financial/Resource Implications: 
The DLUHC has allocated new burdens funding to support local authorities to 
meet their statutory duties in relation to providing support to domestic abuse 

Page 43

Agenda Item 10



victims in safe accommodation.  This is an annual, non-ring-fenced, grant.  In 
2021/22 the county council has been allocated £1,105,661 for this purpose.   
The district councils have been allocated a combined total of £198,956 to 
cover their administrative burdens.  It should be noted that the Strategy is 
wider than our statutory duties and the delivery plan will need to be 
appropriately resourced.

Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021 – 2024

1. Background
Domestic abuse (DA) is a widespread societal issue, estimated to have impacted on 
2.3 million people in the year ending March 20201. Despite its widespread 
prevalence, domestic abuse is still widely recognised as an underreported crime. It 
remains relatively hidden, even though its impact on the individual, community and 
society is significant.

Domestic abuse is estimated to cost society in England and Wales £66 Billion 
annually, with considerable costs to the economy, health services, criminal justice 
responses and most significantly the human cost, with physical and emotional harms 
incurred by victims estimated to cost £47 billion annually2.

The impact and prevalence of domestic abuse has in recent years, received a 
greater profile nationally, in the main, thanks to the introduction of the Domestic 
Abuse Act 20213 which received Royal Assent in April. The Act sets out a range of 
both legislative and non-legislative measures designed to;

 Protect and support victims of domestic abuse
 Transform the justice process to prioritise victim safety and provide an 

effective response to perpetrators
 Drive consistency and better performance in the response to domestic abuse 

across all local areas, agencies and sectors.

Part 4 of the Act introduces a new statutory duty on local authorities, placing clearer 
accountability on local areas to ensure the needs of victims within refuges and other 
forms of domestic abuse safe accommodation are met in a consistent way. New 
Burdens funding has been allocated to local authorities to cover the costs of the new 
duty to provide support in safe accommodation for 2021-22 and Gloucestershire 

1 Domestic abuse prevalence and trends, England and Wales - Office for National Statistics 
(ons.gov.uk) 
2https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-economic-and-social-costs-of-domestic-abuse
3 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 44

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseprevalenceandtrendsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseprevalenceandtrendsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-economic-and-social-costs-of-domestic-abuse
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents


County Council has received £1,105,661 for this purpose.   The district councils have 
been allocated a combined total of £198,956 to cover their administrative burdens.

Under the new duty, tier one authorities are required to appoint a Domestic Abuse 
Local Partnership Board (DA LPB) to support them in undertaking local needs 
assessments, including developing and monitoring local strategies, and mapping 
activities, ensuring representation of marginalised groups and those who are 
underrepresented in local services. 

The Local Partnership Boards are required to: assess the need for accommodation-
based domestic abuse support for all victims in their area, including those who 
require cross-border support; develop and publish a strategy for the provision of 
such support to cover their locality, having regard to the needs’ assessment; give 
effect to the strategy (through commissioning / de-commissioning decisions) and 
monitor and evaluate its effectiveness.  Tier one authorities are required to deliver 
their strategy, and report back annually to Government.  The duty also requires tier 
two authorities to co-operate with the lead tier one authority.

Gloucestershire already had a domestic abuse partnership structure prior to the DA 
Act 2021 and it was from this strong baseline that the new DA LPB was convened, 
consisting of a strategic group, an operational group and a consultation group led by 
a Consultation Officer.  The DA LPB has been meeting on a regular basis since April 
to progress the work around the statutory duties including development of the needs 
assessment and strategy and to agree recommendations for spend of the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) (now Department of 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)) grant.

2. Needs Assessment
The Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment was completed as part of the statutory duty 
within the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 to assess need for support within specialist 
domestic abuse accommodation. The DA LPB chose to widen the scope of the 
needs’ assessment beyond just accommodation-based support to include domestic 
abuse specialist community-based support services as well as Stalking, Honour 
Based Abuse, Forced Marriage and Child to Parent Abuse.

The data provided within the needs’ assessment covered the years 2017/18-
2019/20. Additional data was sought for 2020/21 wherever available. A range of 
agencies provided data and the views of those with lived experience and the general 
community were sort through an independent engagement and consultation service.

The needs assessment considered the national context of domestic abuse as well as 
the local picture.  It mapped the local provision of both accommodation and 
community-based support services in the county and looked at how Gloucestershire 
currently responds to perpetrators of domestic abuse.  Whilst the needs assessment 

Page 45



primarily considers victims 16+ it did also look at the impact of domestic abuse on 
children in the county.
The following were outside of the scope of the assessment: sexual violence; Female 
Genital Mutilation; modern slavery; female prisoners and teenage relationship abuse.  

2.1Key Findings

2.1.1 DA Crimes in Gloucestershire
Domestic abuse recorded crimes within Gloucestershire have continued to increase 
year on year, most notably with a 45% increase from 2018/19 to 2019/20. During 
2019/20, domestic abuse crimes accounted for 13% of all crime reported to 
Gloucestershire Constabulary and 38% of all ‘Violence Against the Person’ crimes. 
Interestingly, whilst the pandemic saw a drop in reported domestic abuse, DA 
accounted for the same proportion of all crime during this time period. The rate of 
Domestic Abuse crimes per 1000 of the population in Gloucestershire is 8.25 
(2020/21) and between 75-78% of victims were recorded as female with the majority 
aged between 25-34. 

The highest rates of domestic abuse are recorded within Gloucester and there is a 
clear link with our most deprived neighbourhoods with a rate of 64 DA crimes per 
1000 of the population within communities that fall within the most deprived 20% of 
England. ‘Westgate 5’ has the highest rate seen in the county - 11x the county rate 
and 5x the rate for Gloucester district as a whole.  It should be noted that this figure 
relates to incidents that are reported that occur in public as well as to incidents 
occurring in individual households.

Graph 1: 3-year rate – Domestic Abuse Recorded Crime per district
 (01/04/2018 – 31/03/2021)

Page 46



2.1.2 Accommodation-Based Support
District Homeless applications:
Homeless cases presenting with domestic abuse to District Councils have increased 
year on year, with a 36% increase from 2018/19 to 2019/20 and a further 6% 
increase in 2020/21 (the majority within Gloucester). For 2020/21 466 DA homeless 
cases were recorded by the District Councils (53% were for Gloucester). Overall for 
the county, between 61-69% of applications will result in placement in temporary 
accommodation. There is limited access to Domestic Abuse Specific Safe 
Accommodation in Gloucestershire. 

Places of Safety: 
Between 1st April 2018 and the 31st December 2020 45 cases were placed in this DA 
specific safe accommodation. During this same time period 105 cases were not able 
to be accommodated in Places of Safety (POS) and other solutions had to be found. 
The majority of victims accessing this provision were already in social housing 
accommodation when they required POS.

Refuge: 
Requests for refuge space account for 1% of all Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse 
Support Service (GDASS) contacts. Stroud Beresford refuge is only able to offer 
safe accommodation for 27% of those referred, resulting in 90 victims recorded as 
being denied refuge space in 2019/20 (and this is likely to be an 
underrepresentation).

Issues with access to DA safe accommodation:
There are a number of issues that might impede access to DA safe accommodation.  
These include the amount of spaces available; access for those with no recourse to 
public funds; whether or not the accommodation is suitable for those with more 
complex needs; suitability and availability of accommodation for those with larger 
families or older male teenagers; availability of accommodation for those with 
specific needs and a lack of move-on options.  

2.1.3 Community Based Support
Referrals in to GDASS have increased year on year with a 24% increase from 
2019/20 to 2020/21 (more than 7000 referrals in 2020/21) with the majority of these 
referrals entering the service via the helpdesk. 14% of referrals in 2020/21 were for 
the IDVA service for high risk victims of DA and 64% of referrals made to GDASS 
come from the police (a considerably higher level than seen nationally at 21% police 
referrals into similar services).

Page 47



Graph 2: New referrals to GDASS based on service offer for years 16/17, 17/18,18/19, 19/20 and 2020/21

14% of referrals were for male victims (compared with 4% nationally).  Victims from 
Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority groups are more likely to disengage from the 
service than victims from ‘white ethnicities’ and we found underrepresentation of 
LGBTQ victims who were also more likely to disengage than those identifying as 
heterosexual. 

2.1.4 Perpetrators
Police recorded DA perpetrators:
93% of DA perpetrators are male (20/21) with the majority aged between 25-34 (rate 
of 2.71 domestic abuse offenders per 1000 of the pop. for this age group). 10% were 
recorded as being from Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority backgrounds (compared 
with 4% of pop.). This increases to 13% when looking at MARAC cases. Between 
60-70% of MARAC perpetrators were noted as serial/repeat perpetrators. 

Probation - Building Better Relationships:
We found that there were low numbers of positive completions of the Building Better 
Relationships programme although the numbers were increasing (43 in 2019/20, an 
increase from 23 in 17/18).  In addition, there were 17 positive completions of the 
Respectful Relationships Course. 

Positive Relationships Gloucestershire (PRG):
There is an increase year on year in the number of referrals to the PRG service and 
60 perpetrators took up the offer of an intervention (following suitability assessment) 
in 2019/20 with 70% of those completing the service intervention. The majority of 
referrals into the service are from Children’s Social Care and self-referrals (mainly for 
Gloucester and Cheltenham).
 

Page 48



2.1.5 Children and Vulnerable Adults
Children:
30% of all children’s social care (CSC) referrals are made with a concern for 
domestic abuse, accounting for around 6000 referrals between 2018 and 2021. The 
largest volume of CSC referrals for DA were made for the Forest of Dean. There is 
again, a link to our most deprived communities.

For 2020/21, GDASS recorded 8138 children connected to victims of domestic 
abuse with the majority of these children aged 10 and under.  7% of high-risk victims 
were recorded as being pregnant.  

In the 2020 Pupil Wellbeing Survey (a voluntary survey run in our schools every 
other year), 10% of pupils completing the service noted not feeling safe at home and 
20% reported a personal experience of DA and/or witnessing DA. 8% reported a 
need for more support and education for DA. 

The 2019 Violence Prevention Needs Assessment that 24% of youth violent 
offenders had disclosed witnessing DA at home (compared with estimates of 14% of 
children nationally). 

Vulnerable Adults:
From 01/04/2018 to 31/03/2021 Gloucestershire received 672 safeguarding alerts 
relating to individuals identified as experiencing domestic abuse. The majority of 
these alerts were for individuals living within Gloucester (26%) and Cheltenham 
(21%) and again there was a link to deprivation.  

Stalking:
Stalking Crimes in Gloucestershire have increased significantly since 2017/18, with 
93 crimes recorded in 17/18 compared with 557 recorded in 20/21.  In part this huge 
increase is reflective of the new service and processes being put in place to identify 
and address stalking.  For 2020/2021 the rate of stalking crimes accounts for 0.87 
crimes per 1000 of the population with the highest rate seen in Gloucester at 1.3.  

The ISAC service for high risk victims supported 140 victims of stalking in 2020/21 
with 69% related to DA. Stranger stalking accounted for 4% of ISAC referrals and 
4% were victims stalked by a client. 

No link was identified between stalking offenders and deprivation. The themes 
coming out of the stalking clinic include links to sexual violence, links to social 
isolation, professionals being stalked as part of their role (health and social care) and 
gaps in stalker perpetrator interventions.

Page 49



Honour Based Violence (HBV) and Forced Marriage (FM):
We identified gaps in data in this area and the need for community engagement to 
help us to understand the picture better.  GDASS recorded more than 5 cases of FM 
and under 10 HBV in 2019/20. 

Child to Parent Abuse: 
Again, there were gaps in data in this area although since Jan 2021, the support 
service Parental Education Growth Support (PEGS) received referrals for 21 families 
from Gloucestershire. There is a need for awareness raising and local provision. 

2.2 Needs Assessment Summary and Recommendations

Overall Gloucestershire is a county with well-established domestic abuse 
partnerships and specialist services that offers a variety of provision to meet the 
needs of a broad range of victims/survivors of domestic abuse.

Local services are formally accredited in line with national best practice and these 
services receive a large number of referrals each year to provide support to both 
victims/survivors, perpetrators and professionals responding to domestic abuse. 
Services are ever evolving to meet changes in need and demand and regularly look 
towards innovative practice to continually develop the pathways to support.

The Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (DA LPB) and Coordinated 
Community Response (CCR) adheres to national standards and the local 
commissioning arrangements are considered best practice nationally.

There is a clear understanding of the prevalence and impact of domestic abuse 
locally and the strategic response ensures a focus on all areas of the domestic 
abuse agenda including:  Prevention and early identification; Provision of Service; 
Partnership working and Perpetrator responses.

The needs assessment concluded that Gloucestershire is well placed to respond to 
the requirements of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and ensure the ongoing 
implementation of a shared vision and collective aims and objectives to continue the 
development of the local approach to addressing domestic abuse.

There are however key areas for further development that have been identified by 
the needs’ assessment:

We identified seven overarching areas for development:
 Training for frontline staff across all agencies (early identification & 

prevention)
 Further development and embedding of DA Pathways (Coordinated 

Community Response) and partnership approach
 Ongoing awareness raising and community engagement to increase reporting 

and access to support

Page 50



 The need to develop a response to DA victims with complex needs &/ or 
multiple disadvantage/ intersectionality

 The need to take a place-based approach to DA/ deprivation/ access to 
support

 The need to improve DA data collection across all agencies
 Preparations for new measures introduced in the DA Act 2021

We also found eight themed areas for development:

 Accommodation based support: increasing DA specific accommodation 
across all tenures/ specialist accommodation to meet specific needs 
(protected characteristics)/ Whole Housing Approach/ consider cross border 
access to accommodation/ supporting victims with No Recourse to Public 
Funds (NRPF)

 Community based support: capacity within current service (need for 
growth)/ multi agency engagement & increasing referrals/ engagement with 
protected characteristics groups (consideration of ‘by and for’ approach)

 Perpetrators: capacity within the service (need for growth)/ increasing 
perpetrator support 16+/ young people prevention & early intervention/ CJS 
response to perpetrators/ improvement of arrest rates and crime recording for 
DA

 Children & young people: dedicated services for under 13 witnessing 
domestic abuse/ capacity within current 13+ service (need for growth)

 Vulnerable adults: consider and clarity multi agency response to vulnerable 
adults experiencing DA

 Stalking: capacity within current service (need for growth)/ training and 
awareness raising/ response to stalking perpetrators/ use of SPOs

 HBV/ FM: greater understanding of local need required/ community 
engagement & awareness raising

 Child to Parent Abuse: greater understanding of local need / community 
engagement & awareness raising/ investment in dedicated services

These were taken forward by the DA LPB in workshops to inform the development of 
the new Strategy and multi-agency delivery plan.

3. The Strategy
3.1 Vision and principles 

The vision of the new Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy is: 

For Gloucestershire to be a county where domestic abuse is not tolerated and 
everybody can live free from abuse and harm, where healthy relationships are the 
norm and where victims/ survivors and their children have access to the right support 
at the right time.

Page 51



For domestic abuse to be everybody’s business, where a collaborative approach 
creates lasting change across our systems and communities, where the voice of the 
victim is at the heart of our response.

The DA LPB were very keen to ensure that we incorporated learning from Domestic 
Homicide Reviews into the strategy and delivery plan and this has been embedded 
in our principles: 

 We will respond to our local need based on a needs assessment and lessons 
learnt from domestic homicide reviews

 We will ensure the voice of the victim is at the heart of our response
 We will work collaboratively to promote a consistent response to domestic 

abuse across our agencies and communities

3.2Strategic Priorities
Gloucestershire’s priorities have been developed collaboratively through the 
Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board and are informed by the National VAWG 
Strategy and National Statement of Expectations for domestic abuse.

All priorities have been informed by the voice of the victim/survivor and the wider 
community and place the victim at the centre of service delivery. The continued 
inclusion of victim/survivor voice will be at the heart of the DA LPB (via the 
Consultation group).

We have identified five priority areas each of which are further broken down into 
objectives and the desired outcomes we wish to achieve:

Priority 1: Prevention and early Intervention

Responding to domestic abuse effectively is not just about focusing on high risk 
victims, but also recognising the need to take a population-based approach, 
understanding and addressing the underlying causes of domestic abuse and 
determining which factors may increase risk and how those might be modified. By 
tackling ‘upstream’ risk factors we can help to lessen ‘downstream’ consequences, 
ensuring that communities and society are strengthened to support people 
experiencing domestic abuse to be safe, well and resilient.

Objectives:

 To ensure the continued understanding and assessment of the way in which 
domestic abuse presents within Gloucestershire and the exploration of 
mechanisms to respond to its root causes.

 To ensure young people are provided with evidence-based education and 
interventions that promote healthy relationship behaviours and the delivery of 
messages that prevent the normalisation of abuse.

Page 52



 To ensure those experiencing domestic abuse can access support at an early 
stage, preventing the risk of escalation (secondary prevention) and reducing 
exposure to the harmful consequences of domestic abuse.

Priority 2: Multi-agency working and pathway development

To fully address domestic abuse a clear and robust multi-agency response is 
required. There is a need to ensure agencies effectively share information, risk 
assess and collaborate in their response to victims, perpetrators and their families, 
with clear pathways into specialist support.  The Coordinated Community Response 
(CCR); an approach that Gloucestershire has adopted provides a framework for this 
approach and is considered to be best practice in responding to domestic abuse.

Objectives:

 To ensure the development and embedding of clear pathways between all 
agencies and specialist domestic abuse services to provide a consistent 
approach to victims of domestic abuse and their families and clear joint 
working arrangements for agencies across Gloucestershire.

Priority 3: Workforce development

To provide a robust countywide response to domestic abuse, we need to ensure 
professionals across all organisations are skilled in identifying and responding 
effectively to those vulnerable to domestic abuse both within the community and the 
workplace.

 To ensure professionals across all agencies have access to specialist training 
that enables them to feel confident and competent in their response to 
Domestic Abuse, Stalking, Honour Based Violence, Forced Marriage and 
Child to Parent Abuse.

 To ensure workplaces and business within Gloucestershire take a proactive 
approach to addressing domestic abuse and have in place effective policies 
and procedures which support organisations and staff in their response to 
colleagues who may be victims or perpetrators of domestic abuse.

Priority 4: High quality service provision for victims and their families

The provision of high-quality domestic abuse services is central to any local 
response to victims and their families. Service provision needs to be accessible to all 
victims and be available at the right time to secure their immediate safety and 
support their longer-term recovery from abuse. Services should be informed by the 
service user voice to ensure everyone who requires support feels empowered to 
access it. Services must be flexible to changing demand and need, ensuring 
appropriate solutions that acknowledge the wide-ranging impact domestic abuse can 
have.

Page 53



Objectives:

 Through robust collaboration between Gloucestershire’s tier 1 and tier 2 Local 
Authorities the identified local need for specialist domestic abuse safe 
accommodation is addressed and the support needs of those accessing safe 
accommodation are met. This objective supports us to meet our statutory 
duty, ensuring all victims of domestic abuse and their children have access to 
the right support within safe accommodation when they need it.

 To ensure the development and delivery of high-quality specialist community-
based support for all victims of domestic abuse (aged 13+) and their families 
that ensures the availability of the right support at the right time.

 To contribute to the development of a countywide approach to complex 
needs/multiple disadvantage, ensuring that issues relating to domestic abuse 
victims and perpetrators are considered in any ongoing developments.

 To ensure we take a place-based approach to domestic abuse, recognising 
the differing needs of individuals and the specific characteristics of 
communities across the county. For services and activities tackling domestic 
abuse to be reflective of these characteristics, taking a flexible strengths-
based approach.

Priority 5: Working to break the cycle of perpetrator behaviour
To break the cycle of domestic abuse and create lasting change for victims, we need 
to address perpetrator behaviour, holding individuals to account and providing 
support that facilitates the development of healthy relationship behaviours; 
recognising the impact of perpetrator behaviours on families as a whole.

Objectives:
 To ensure the development and delivery of local specialist support for 

perpetrators of domestic abuse and other harmful relationship behaviours, 
that addresses these behaviours and creates lasting positive change.

 To ensure a system wide joined up approach to addressing perpetrator 
behaviour that enables all agencies to identify perpetrators and respond 
appropriately. To have a robust criminal justice response that brings 
perpetrators to justice.

 To raise awareness of perpetrator behaviour both in the community and for 
the individual by enabling people to recognise abusive relationship 
behaviours, be aware of support available and feel empowered to respond 
effectively, supporting a county wide approach where domestic abuse is not 
tolerated.

Page 54



3.3 Next Steps

The Strategy has now been signed off by the DA LPB and the Safer Gloucestershire 
Partnership Board and will be published, alongside the needs’ assessment, on the 
GCC website as well as the Glostakeastand website.  We are required to publish our 
strategy by 26th October and for it to be operational by 5th January 2022. Thereafter, 
strategies must be reviewed every three years. 

Successful delivery of this strategy requires strong leadership, commitment and 
engagement from all partners in Gloucestershire and work has now begun on the 
delivery plan which will bring life to our priorities and help us achieve our objectives 
and outcomes.  We will be developing actions that will be delivered across the three-
year period of the strategy and expect partners to take ownership of and drive 
forward those actions that they are best qualified to lead. The Safer Gloucestershire 
Board has asked to be informed of our progress at regular intervals.

We are now also progressing the commissioning activity associated with the 
MHCLG/ DLUHC grant funding to support us with our statutory duties to provide 
support in domestic abuse safe accommodation and this we hope will help to 
address some of the issues identified in our needs’ assessment.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Next steps - Health and Wellbeing Board and Integrated Care Partnership
	8 Health and Wellbeing Board - Performance Dashboard
	9 Child Friendly Gloucestershire Update
	Future Generations Booklet October 2021

	10 Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021 - 2024

